ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 5 2014

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

EDDIE J. PILCHER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000406

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was plea counsel ineffective for representing Petitioner despite the conflict of interest in him representing both Petitioner and his codefendant?

STATEMENT

On March 25, 2011, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Eddie James Pilcher, Jr. on one count of armed robbery and one count of attempted first-degree burglary. App. 180-184. On June 21, 2011, Petitioner appeared at a plea hearing before The Honorable Roger L. Couch. James Cheek represented Petitioner and Derrick Balsa represented the State. App. 1.

Also present for a plea was one of Petitioner's two codefendants, Jonathan Goss. App. 4, lines 3-23. The State alleged that on September 9, 2011, at approximately 12:30 a.m., Petitioner, Goss, and a third codefendant, Curtis "Tony" Wilkie, kicked in the door of a residence in Greer. An alarm system activated, and a security camera filmed the three men fleeing. App. 17, lines 12-24; App. 19, lines 5-10; App. 152; App. 163. Later that night, around 10:30 p.m., the same three men accosted a group of people at a cookout in the backyard of a residence. Using firearms, the men demanded valuables and left with a wallet and cell phones. App. 18, lines 4-15; App. 19, line 19—App. 20, line 10.

After a routine plea colloquy, Petitioner pled guilty, and the court accepted the plea. App. 13, line 1—App. 17, line 4; App. 21, lines 4-11. During allocution, plea counsel told the judge that Wilkie "orchestrated everything." App. 22, line 18—App. 23, line 6. ". . . [He] appears to be the person that is amendable [sic] to everybody in that community, introduced these two young men, one who will come before you very briefly, Your Honor, to also enter a plea, into this whole situation and they followed him." App. 23, lines 9-13. The court sentenced Petitioner to two concurrent sentences of twenty-five years. App. 27, lines 14-16.

Shortly thereafter, Goss went before Judge Couch to plea; plea counsel also represented Goss. App. 54, lines 23-24; App. 122; App. 134, lines 20-22. During Goss's allocution, plea counsel told Judge Couch that Goss was a "young man" who cried, "not try[ing] to be so hard and

tough and worried of what the other inmates up there in the cell were thinking.” App. 140, line 23—App. 141, line 6. He stated that Goss’s mother and grandmother were present. App. 141, lines 7-24. He asked Judge Couch “take into account [Goss’s] youth” before deflecting culpability to Petitioner: “[H]e . . . allowed himself to get caught up with this guy, Eddie Pilcher . . . who was before this Court most recently, Your Honor. . . . [T]his young man right here allowed himself to be drawn into this scheme.” He also stated Goss’s girlfriend warned him about the other two and advised him not to join up with them. App. 142, lines 4-24.

He tells me . . . once he wanted to back out of the situation that the comments were made to him we know where you live, we know who your are, we know your family, and we will make sure you don’t tell nobody about this. You go with us. You’re either with us or you’re against us, and in a lack of judgment he went with them, Your Honor.

App. 143, lines 11-17. Noting his “apparent lack of leadership in this endeavor,” Judge Couch sentenced Goss to twelve years for armed robbery and twenty years suspended to twelve for burglary. App. 148, lines 5-22.

On November 21, 2011 Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 29-36. On February 20, 2013, the State filed a return. App. 39-43. On September 17, 2013, Petitioner filed an amended PCR application. App. 37-39. On October 1, 2013, Petitioner appeared at an evidentiary hearing before The Honorable J. Derham Cole. Cristopher D. Brough represented Petitioner and Suzanne H. White represented the State. App. 44.

Petitioner claimed ineffective assistance because plea counsel represented both Petitioner and Goss at their pleas. App. 49, lines 4-15. He testified that counsel never sought from him a release or waiver or otherwise addressed the conflict of interest with Petitioner. App. 49, lines 19-23.

Solicitor Balsa testified that he thought the dual representation was “odd,” and he notified the public defender’s office when he noticed it. His records showed that Dick Whelchel was thereafter substituted. App. 85, lines 3-8.

Plea counsel testified that he told Petitioner that Goss was thinking about a plea, but he was not sure he would be representing him because Goss not comfortable.

I think that Mr. Hall or someone was going to enter that plea but after I represented Mr. Pilcher [sic]. And after the outcome of Mr. Pilcher’s sentencing Mr. Goss decided he’[d] go ahead and enter a plea. So I took some time and prepared him for his plea.

App. 107, lines 10-14. In explaining his statements in the allocutions, he stated that Petitioner “had the wherewithal, the knowledge and experience on how to get it done.” However, he also explained that Petitioner had generally been exhibiting commendable behavior though Wilkie had recently become a bad influence on him:

[Petitioner] was associated with a very good friend of mine’s relative and was dating her and had a good job over there, a very impressive recovery effort after he got out of prison the previous time and had a good job. He talked about how he had gone over and restood [sic] and waited at the meat market or one of those locations to get a good job. And he’d done real well and was really on a good path. And then he met Antonio Wilkie and thing went sour after that for him.

App. 107, line 23—App. 108, line 6.

On February 20, 2014, the PCR court issued its order of dismissal. App. 168-179. The order concluded Petitioner failed to demonstrate that any conflict of interest adversely affected plea counsel’s performance. It also stated that because Petitioner pled before Goss, “nothing that Counsel said at Goss’ plea affected the outcome of Applicant’s plea.” App. 174.

ARGUMENT

THE RECORD DOES NOT SUPPORT THE PCR COURT'S FINDING THAT PLEA COUNSEL'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST DID NOT ADVERSELY AFFECT HIS PERFORMANCE BECAUSE COUNSEL DID NOT PRESENT MITIGATING INFORMATION OF PETITIONER'S RECENT, POSITIVE BEHAVIOR, WHICH WOULD HAVE FRUSTRATED HIS BLAME-SHIFTING STRATEGY DURING GOSS'S ALLOCUTION.

The record does not support the PCR court's finding that plea counsel's conflict of interest did not adversely affect his performance because he did not present mitigating information of Petitioner's recent, positive behavior, which would have frustrated his blame-shifting strategy during Goss's allocution. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "To establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from multiple representation, a defendant who did not object at trial must show an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance." *Thomas v. State*, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001).

[A]n actual conflict of interest occurs . . . when a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties. If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client.

Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 449, 752 S.E.2d 538, 541 (2013) (quoting *Duncan v. State*, 281 S.C. 435, 438, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984)). "[A] defendant who shows that a conflict of interest actually affected the adequacy of his representation need not demonstrate prejudice to obtain relief." *Staggs v. State*, 372 S.C. 549, 551–52, 643 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2007).

The general duty to investigate includes presenting any mitigating evidence to both the prosecution before trial as well as to the trial court for purposes of sentencing. *Id.* at 524-25 (“The lawyer also has a substantial and important role to perform in raising mitigating factors both to the prosecutor initially and to the court at sentencing”) (quoting 1 ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 4-4.1, commentary, p. 4-55 (2d ed. 1982)). The trial judge in return has a duty to consider any mitigating evidence in sentencing a defendant:

If justice is to be done, a sentencing judge should know all the material facts. Fair administration of justice demands that the judge will not act on surmise or suspicion but will impose sentences with insight and understanding. Hence, the judge is required to listen and give serious consideration to any information material to punishment.

State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 245-46, 226 S.E.2d 896, 897 (1976).

In this case, as an initial matter, an actual conflict of interest existed because Goss’s interests in connection with his sentencing were adverse to Petitioner’s. Goss’s interest was in reducing his culpability by portraying himself as young, impressionable, vulnerable, and a victim of Petitioner’s negative influences. Solicitor Balsa even testified that he thought the dual representation could be problematic. Of course, this portrayal would increase Petitioner’s culpability.