STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 11 2015

Appellate Case No. 2014-000406

S.C. Supreme Court

Eddie J. Pilcher, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did Petitioner fail to meet his burden of proof of establishing that an actual conflict of interest existed when Counsel represented both Petitioner and one of his co-defendants at their respective pleas?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for armed robbery (11-GS-42-1970) and attempted burglary – 1st degree (11-GS-42-1971). The Petitioner was represented by James A. Cheek, Esquire. On June 21, 2011, the Petitioner was sentenced by The Honorable Roger L. Couch to concurrent sentences of twenty-five years on each charge. The Petitioner did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Application for Post-Conviction Relief filed November 21, 2011, but received by Respondent on May 17, 2012, and amendment filed September 17, 2013. The Respondent made its Return on or about February 20, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on October 1, 2013, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Christopher D. Brough, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent.

At the hearing, the Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Deputy Solicitor Derrick Balsa, Esquire, Detective Dale Arterburn, J. Roger Poole, Esquire, and James A. Cheek, Esquire, also testified. Following the hearing, the Honorable J. Derham Cole denied the PCR application by written Order dated February 20, 2014.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. **Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that an actual conflict of interest existed when Counsel represented both Petitioner and one of his co-defendants at their respective pleas.**

On June 21, 2011, Petitioner pled guilty to charges of attempted burglary – 1st degree and armed robbery. (App. p. 12). Petitioner had originally been charged with three counts of kidnapping, burglary – 1st degree, and armed robbery. (App. p. 101, lines 4-5). Petitioner was represented at the plea by Counsel and informed the plea court that not only had Petitioner had plenty of time to speak with Counsel, but was satisfied with Counsel’s representation. (App. p. 14). At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued Counsel had an actual conflict of interest because Counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant, Jonathan Goss [“Goss”], at their respective guilty pleas. (App. p. 49, lines 12-15).

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Petitioner testified that he was originally appointed attorney J. Roger Poole, Esquire, to represent him on these charges. (App. p. 49, lines 7). However, Counsel represented Petitioner at the guilty plea. (App. p. 49, line 8). Petitioner testified that he was not aware of Counsel's representation of Goss until the day of his guilty plea and after receiving a copy of his plea transcript. (App. p. 50, lines 1-2). Petitioner testified that he felt betrayed by Counsel's representation of Goss and believed Counsel must have used things Petitioner told Counsel to hurt instead of help Petitioner. (App. p. 59). Petitioner stated that he believed there was a conflict because Goss had informed Counsel that Petitioner had threatened Goss' family. (App. p. 73).

Petitioner acknowledged that he informed the court that he had a job until a "couple of

days before [he] committed the crime.” (App. p. 72). However, Petitioner stated that he did not specifically reference the crimes he was pleading guilty to that day because he did not say what crime he had committed. (App. p. 72). Petitioner also acknowledged that the only issue he took with the State’s recitation of the facts was the fact that Petitioner did not enter the home with a gun, but acknowledged that his co-defendants had guns and he understood the hand of one, hand of all theory. (App. p. 72). At the PCR hearing, Petitioner denied practically every statement attributed to Petitioner in the supplemental investigative report as well as statements made at the guilty plea. (App. p. 74, lines 16, 19; p. 75, lines 4, 20, 25). Further, Petitioner stated that he partially lied to the plea court during his plea, but then stated that he did not believe it was a lie because he only did what Counsel had told him to do. (App. p. 79; p. 80, lines 2-3, 8-10).

Mr. Poole, the original attorney appointed to Applicant’s case testified that he recalled Applicant’s case. (App. p. 100). Poole testified that the Applicant admitted his involvement in the crimes to the investigator/interviewer from the public defender’s office and indicated that he wanted the best possible deal. (App. p. 101, lines 11-18). Poole testified that Applicant wanted to plead guilty when the State dropped all of the kidnapping charges and allowed Applicant to plead to one count of armed robbery and burglary – 1st degree. (App. p. 101, lines 19-22). Poole testified that Counsel then received the case since Petitioner indicated his desire to plead guilty and Counsel works the cases from the jail. (App. p. 101, lines 22-25).

At the time of Petitioner’s plea and in way of mitigation, Counsel informed the court that Petitioner had done very well since he had been previously released from prison a year or so prior to the incident. (App. p. 21). Counsel pointed out that Petitioner was affiliated with people such as the head of the Boy Scouts Piedmont District. (App. p. 22). Counsel informed the court that Petitioner held two jobs at one time. (App. p. 22). Counsel also informed the court that

Petitioner was influenced by co-defendant Curtis Wilke, who orchestrated the burglaries. (App. p. 23). Counsel stated that Petitioner was willing to pay restitution. (App. p. 24). Counsel told the court he wanted to distinguish Petitioner's involvement, planning, prior knowledge, and associations. (App. p. 25). Counsel also pointed out that Petitioner did turn himself in and cooperate with authorities (App. p. 26).

Petitioner gave a statement to the court and apologized and then pointed out to the court that Goss was waiting to plead. (App. p. 25). Petitioner asked the court to be lenient on Goss and indicated that Petitioner should have stepped in and stopped Goss from participating. (App. p. 25). Petitioner had a substantial prior record, which included trespassing and disorderly conduct, false information to police, breaking into a motor vehicle, two counts of grand larceny, two counts of threatening a public employee, burglary – 2nd, burglary – 3rd degree, petit larceny, indecent exposure, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and malicious injury to the jail. (App. p. 26; p. 76, lines 17-18, 23-25; p. 77, lines 1, 4-5). During sentencing, the court specifically noted that because of Petitioner's prior record, the conduct of bashing in doors and going into homes with weapons was not out of the realm of possibilities for Petitioner, no matter what his involvement. (App. p. 27). Additionally, during Goss' sentencing, the court specifically pointed to the fact that Goss had no prior record and the words of his prior co-defendant (Petitioner), had weighed in Goss' favor for sentencing purposes. (App. p. 148).

The mere possibility of a conflict of interest is insufficient to challenge a criminal conviction. Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 426 S.E.2d 793 (1993). "To establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from multiple representations, a defendant who did not object at trial must show an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance." Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d

254, 256 (2001) (citing Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984)).

The Fourth Circuit has addressed many issues related to conflict of interest and these cases are persuasive in this case. Although an attorney's overlapping representation of two clients can affect representation when an actual conflict of interest is created, the mere fact that overlapping representation exists is insufficient to create a Sixth Amendment violation. United States v. Taft, 221 F. App'x 277, 279 (4th Cir. 2007) (holding that defendant's right to effective counsel was not violated when former trial counsel also represented a government witness for a short overlapping period). Additionally, Counsel must rely on the information provided to him by his clients. "Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." Barnes v. Thompson, 58 F.3d 971, 979 (4th Cir. 1995) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91, 104 S.Ct. at 2066).

Counsel testified that he did not believe there was a conflict in his representation of both Petitioner and Goss. (App. p. 117). Counsel testified that he informed Petitioner of the possibility of Goss entering a plea as well. (App. p. 107). However, Counsel testified that at the time, he was not sure that he would be handling the plea for Goss. (App. p. 107). Counsel testified that Goss decided **after** Petitioner's plea and sentencing, to have Counsel represent him at his plea as well, even though Mr. Robert Hall from the public defender's office was going to assist Goss. (App. p. 107, lines 10-14). Counsel also testified that the only information he had regarding any alleged threat made by Petitioner to Goss, was provided to Counsel right before Goss' plea and well after Petitioner's plea and sentencing. (App. p. 117).

Counsel relied on the information he received from Petitioner, which included Petitioner's admission of his participation in the two crimes to which he pled to the investigator with the public defender's office, as well as Petitioner's admission of his participation in the crimes directly to Counsel. (App. p. 101, lines 11-13; p. 104, lines 23-25; p. 105; p. 106, lines 1-9).

“[U]ntil a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance.” Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 1719, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980). The PCR court found that Petitioner's testimony was completely not credible. (App. p. 172). Further, the court found that the Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel operated under a conflict of interest at Petitioner's guilty plea. (App. p. 174). The Order noted that there had been no testimony or evidence to support the argument that Counsel's performance was adversely affected by a conflict of interest, in particular because Petitioner pled guilty and was sentenced prior to Goss. (App. p. 174). Counsel was not operating under a conflict of interest at the time of his representation of Petitioner at Petitioner's plea and Petitioner suffered no prejudice from Counsel's subsequent representation of Petitioner's co-defendant, Goss.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.